
 
 
#plymcabinet 
 

 

CABINET 
 
Tuesday 14 January 2014 
2pm 
Council House (Next to the Civic Centre), Plymouth 
 
Members: 
Councillor Evans, Chair 
Councillor Peter Smith, Vice Chair 
Councillors Coker, Lowry, McDonald, Penberthy, Vincent and Williams. 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 
This agenda acts as notice that Cabinet will be considering business in private if items are 
included in Part II of the agenda. 
 
This meeting will be broadcast live to the internet and will be capable of subsequent repeated 
viewing.  By entering the Warspite Room and during the course of the meeting, Councillors are 
consenting to being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting. 
 

By entering the meeting room and using the public seating area, the public are consenting to 
being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting. 
 

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy. 
 
 
 
Tracey Lee 
Chief Executive 

 

 

 Democratic Support 
Plymouth City Council 
Civic Centre 
Plymouth  PL1 2AA 
 
Please ask for  Nicola Kirby 
T 01752 304867 
E nicola.kirby@plymouth.gov.uk 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 
Published 06 January 2014 

Public Document Pack



 
CABINET 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
PART I  (PUBLIC MEETING) 
  
1. APOLOGIES    
  
 To receive apologies for absence submitted by Cabinet Members. 
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   (Pages 1 - 2) 
  
 Cabinet Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items 

on this agenda.  A flowchart providing guidance on interests is attached to assist 
councillors. 

  
3. MINUTES   (Pages 3 - 22) 
  
 To sign and confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 10 December 

2013 and to note the urgent decision to implement minute 71 immediately.  
  
4. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC    
  
 To receive questions from the public in accordance with the Constitution. 

 
Questions, of no longer than 50 words, can be submitted to the Democratic Support 
Unit, Plymouth City Council, Civic Centre, Plymouth, PL1 2AA, or email to 
democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk. Any questions must be received at least five clear 
working days before the date of the meeting. 

  
5. CHAIR'S URGENT BUSINESS    
  
 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 
  
6. REVISED COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME   (Pages 23 - 38) 
  
 Councillor James (Chair of the Co-operative Scrutiny Board) has been invited to attend 

Cabinet to present the recommendations in the scrutiny report on the Council Tax 
(attachment of earnings) from the Co-operative Scrutiny Board.  
 
The Assistant Director for Finance will submit a report reviewing the impact of the 
localised Council Tax Support Scheme for Plymouth and to make relevant 
recommendations for changes in 2014/15 following consideration of the scrutiny report.  
 
 

  



 

7. COUNCIL TAX BASE SETTING 2014/15   (Pages 39 - 44) 
  
 The Assistant Director for Finance will submit a report on the proposed Council Tax-

base for tax setting purposes in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax 
Base) Regulations 2012.  

  
8. CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE REFURBISHMENT OF 

LAIRA RAIL BRIDGE   
(Pages 45 - 50) 

  
 The Strategic Director for Place will submit a report on a scheme to restore the 

redundant Laira Rail Bridge, which crosses the River Plym, and to bring the bridge back 
into operation as a shared use pedestrian and cycle path, linking to the National Cycle 
Network (NCN) Route 27 which passes through the Saltram Country Park, along with 
other local routes.  Cabinet will be asked to award the contract for the refurbishment of 
the bridge.   

See also agenda item 10 below.  

  
9. EXEMPT BUSINESS    
  
 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business on the grounds that it (they) involve the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000. At the time this agenda is published no 
representations have been made that this part of the meeting should be in public. 
 
(Members of the public to note that, if agreed, you will be asked to leave the meeting). 

  
PART II (PRIVATE MEETING) 
 
AGENDA 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO NOTE 
that under the law, members are entitled to consider certain items in private.  Members of the 
public will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed. 
  
10. CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE REFURBISHMENT OF 

LAIRA RAIL BRIDGE (E3)   
(Pages 51 - 72) 

  
 The Strategic Director for Place will submit a report on confidential details relating to the 

contract award for the refurbishment of Laira Rail Bridge. (Agenda item 8 refers). 
  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

DECLARING INTERESTS – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF 
 
 
 
 
 
           
          
 
         
    
         No   Yes 
 
 
 
 
   
    No   Yes 
 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
              
         
          
     
                
          
                
     
 
           
 
             
      
     
 

 
 
 
 
 
D
P 

I 

Does the business relate to or is it likely to affect a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI)?  This will include 
the interests of a spouse or civil partner (and co-habitees): 

• any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation that they carry on for profit or gain 
• any sponsorship that they receive including contributions to their expenses as a councillor or the 

councillor’s election expenses from a Trade Union 
• any land licence or tenancy they have in Plymouth 
• any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and them 
• any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and any organisation with land in 

Plymouth in they are a partner, a paid Director, or have a relevant interest in its shares and 
securities 

• any organisation which has land or a place of business in Plymouth and in which they have a 
relevant interest in its shares or its securities 

What matters are being discussed? 

 
 
 
P
r 
i 
v
a
t
e 
 
I
n
t
e
r
e
s

t 

Does the business affect the well-being or financial position of (or relate to the approval, consent, licence or 
permission) for: 

• a member of your family or  
• any person with whom you have a close association; or 
• any organisation of which you are a member or are involved in its management (whether or not 

appointed to that body by the council).  This would include membership of a secret society and 
other similar organisations. 

 
Yes           No   You can speak and vote 

 
 
 
   

 
 

Yes    No 

Speak to Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting to avoid risk of allegations of corruption 
or bias 

Declare interest and leave (or obtain 
a dispensation) 

Declare the interest and speak and 
vote  

Will it confer an advantage or disadvantage on your family, close associate or an organisation 
where you have a private interest more than it affects other people living or working in the 
ward? 

C
a
b
i
n
e

t 

Cabinet members must declare and give brief details about any conflict of interest* relating to the matter to 
be decided and leave the room when the matter is being considered. Cabinet members may apply to the 
Monitoring Officer for a dispensation in respect of any conflict of interest. 
 
*A conflict of interest is a situation in which a councillor’s responsibility to act and take decisions impartially, 
fairly and on merit without bias may conflict with his/her personal interest in the situation or where s/he may 
profit personally from the decisions that s/he is about to take. 
 

Agenda Item 2Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



��������	
����������������������

��������
�

	
����������������������
�

������	��
�
����������	
����	��	���	������	
����������	�����	������	����	������	
����������	������	������	���������	�������	���	��������	
	
���	��	���������� 	!�����	���	"����#	
$�������%�	������	&��'����	"��������	#��	���(��%�	
�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%�	��	�����	"!���#��������	���'�����	����'��%	)����	
&������	"
*	���	+�����'	,##����%�	�������	���	"������	��������	#��	+�������	
##���������	
!�������'�	���	���%�	���������	��������	"���-���	����'��%�	)����	�������	"������	
��������	#��	
������������	�������%�	�����	���##��	"������	��������	#��	
�������	
������(����%�	.��	
���	"/������	������	����'��%�	)����	0�����	"������	,�'��������	����	
���	�������	��	������	����'��%�	����	0����	"1���	�#	
������%�	�����	)���	"1���	�#	
������'��	������(����	���-���%�	������	������	"����#	
$��������	����������	��������%�	
����'	�������	"1���	�#	)����	������'��	����������'%�	�����	/������	"1���	�#	+������%�	2���	
�������	"������'��	����������'	����'��%�	�����	!����	"������	����������	������%�	����	
!������		"1���	�#	��(����	���	���%�	����	�����	"������(��	��������%�	)����	3�4���	"������	
���	
����	����'��%	���	/�����	2��4�	"������	����������	��((���	,##����	"��4����%%�	
	
�(���'�	#��	�4���� 	����������	���4������	
	
!��	������'	������	��	5�66	(�	���	#������	��	7�86	(��	
	
�����������	
�
�����������������������������������������
������	����������	����
��������������������
�
�������������������������������������
�����	�������������������	�������������������
���������
��������������
	

���� �������	������ ���	����	���
	
!����	����	��	�����������	�#	�������	����	4�	����������	��	����������	����	���	����	�#	
�������	��	��������	��	����	�����	������������	��	���	������'���
	

���� !��"	�����
	
�'����	���	������	�#	���	������'	����	��	95	/����4��	5697���
	

���� #"��	����� ��!�	$���"%������
	
!����	����	��	:������	#���	���	(�4���	#��	���	������'���
	
	
	
	
	
	

Agenda Item 3Page 3



�$���&��"�'��	�%"���������
	

���� �(�����
��������
	
!��	�����	��(�����	����	����	��������	���	4���	�((������	�	���	����;	#���	����	��������	
�����	��	��	��������	�����	1�	�����	���������	���	����	#��	�	����	���	�����	4�	�	��������	
#�����	��	��������	���	���;	����				
	

����  
�
������(��(����(����)
�����������
	
!��	�����	��(�����	����	���	����	�������	��	��'�������	(��(����	����	���	�����	4�	
���������	��	(������	��	���	���	�#	���	������'	�	��	��	������	����	��	�����	�������	���	
��������	�#	�$��(�	��#��������	�	��#����	��	(���'��(�	7	�#	����	9	�#	��������	95�	�#	���	
����	�	�������	4�	���	+������	�#	.�#��������	���	5666�		!��	�������	��	���	��	��'���	
���	�������	���	�����	4�	��(��������	�����������	�#���	���	������'�	����	���	������	�#	
����������	)���	"�����	�#	���	��<�(�������	��������	&����%�			�
	

���� ��	*�����%��	����������+��	�����,���
	
�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%	�4������	�	��(���	��	���	����	����4������	���	�����	
��	569=�	���	4���#��	��	���	����	�#	�����'	����	�����	���	�����'	�((�����	�#	�	#��������	
����������	��	#���������	����	�'��#�����	����4������	�����	��������'	���	786��	����������	
�����	�#	���	>����	������	��	���	1��	��	)���	569=�		
	
����������	�����	�����	"��(���	������%	����������	���	(��(���	���	���������	����	���	
������	�������	��	�����	?76@�	��	���	�����		.�	�����	��	�((���	���	�����	#��	���	>����	
�������	��#����������	�����	4�	��:�����	��	���	1���	���	#��	�����	�����	4�	�������	
�����'�	������	���	����������	����		�����'	���	���	�����	��	��	(��(���	��	����	�	
����4������	����	�����	��	�����������	���	966��	����������	�#	���	����	�#	���������		
!��	����������	�������	4��'��	��:�����	��	�������	����	�����	��	?7A8��	
	
�����	���##��	"������	��������	#��	
�������	������(����%	��(�����	����	���	
(��'�����	�#	�����	�����������	���	����;	����������	��	�������	���	��(��	����	���	
(�4���	�����	�((���	���	������	������	������	"����#	
$��������	����������	��������%	
���	)����	3�4���	"������	���	
����	����'��%	���	��������	���	������'	#��	���	�����		
	
����������	�����	"��4����	���4��	#��	+������%	���	��#�����	��	���	������	������������	
����	���	����	�����	4�	�����'	�	��(����	#��	���	�����'	�����	��	���������	��	+�'����	�����	
���	��������	�'��#�����	�����	������'�	���	�����	�������	96�666	������	(��	����			
	
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		
		
	
	
	
	
	

Page 4



�'����	����������	#�����'	�#	?7A8�666	��	�((���	�	��-��	����	�#	�����	��	569=	��������'	
���	>����	������	786��	����������	����4������	���	�	��-��	������	�����	��	����4����	���	
966��	����������	�#	���	�����		
	
� ��������������������������
�������������
��������������������!�����!��������	�������������
����������������������������������
��������������"�������������!���������	�����������������
��#
���������������������������$%�&��������'($)�������������������������������	�������
����

��������!
��������������������������	���
�������*������������	�������+�!�������,��
����-����.�
������
�������/��������
����0�����.������������������!������������$1�&��������'($).��

	
�	�� ��	*������%�����

	
�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%	��(�����	��	���	�������	(������	�#	���	����	����	4��	
���	���������	����	����������	
���	"�������	������%	���	���	�	����'�����	��������'	
��(����������	�#	��������	*��������	��	����	����	#���	'���������	�������	��	�����	
/����4��	5697�		1�	���	(�������	���	(��(���	�����	#�����	��	���	������	�����	
"������	��'�������'	���	����#�������'%	���	��������	(��������(	������'	����	���������	
�����	�������	���	!��4���		!��	4��	���	��������	�((���	����	��'���	��	���	4����	
�((���	���	���	����	�'����	���	�	�������	��	�$(�����	������	��	#�����'	��:���	���	
���	(��(���	�������'	��	�����	3����		
	
����������	
���	��	(���������	��'���'����	���	����	�#	�������	1����(	"������	�������	
���#�������	���	���������(	������%	��	(��'����'	���	4��	���	����'����	���	����	
�##���	��	�����	��	'��	��	���	(�������		
	

�
�� �"��	�"�	"����������+��	!��	� "����	��	�'*���
	
�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%	�4������	�	��(���	��	���	
*	����������	���	.��������	
+���	������'�	"�.+%	���	��������	<		
	

"�%	 ���	(��������	#�����'	������4��C	
		

"4%	 ���	���	���	���	�����	
����(���	���������(	"�
�%	��	������(��'	
���	�����'�C	
		

"�%	
		

���	�������	4���'	'����	4�	���	����	�������C	

"�%		 ���	��(��������	�#	���	�����	
����(���	���������(;	�����'�	��	���	
����	�������	���	���	����	�	�	�����C	

"�%	 ���	 �������;	 �������	 ��(���	 ��	 ���	 �.+	 ������(����	 �����	
�����	���	����	��	�������	(�����������	���	��(����	������������	
�	���	(��������	�#	���	����	���	���	�4<��'���C		

"#%	 ����	�((������	#��	
*	#���	������	��������	"���������	����	����%	
�����	����	��	(������	�����	#�����'	�#	�����	=6	(��	����	��	�����	
��	����	���	#�����'�	

	
����������	
���	"�������	������%	����������	���	�����	
				

Page 5



�����	���##��	"������	��������	#��	
�������	������(����%	���������	����	���	
*	
(��'�����	�����	�((���	���	����;	��4�����	(��'�����	#��	'�����	���	-�4�	
	
����	0����	"1���	�#	
������%	������	����	���	����	#��	���(������	�#	���	�����'�	��	79	
)������	569=	���	����	���	�.+	�����	��	����'���	���	������'��	
�������	����	"�
�%	�����	
��	���������	4���'	������(���		!��	�
�	��	���	����������'	��������	����	�����	
���������	���	�
�;	���	���	�����	4�	���	��	4��	#��	���	���(�������	(���	�#	���	�����	
0�����	+����			
	
)����	&������	"
*	���	+�����'	,##����%	���	��������	���	������'	#��	���	�����	
	
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		
		
�'����	B		
		

"9%	 ���	 
*	 ����������	���	 .��������	 +���	 ������'�	 ���#�	 ��	 ��	 �������	
#���C	

"5%	 ����	 ���	 ������	 ����	 ����	 ���	 #����	 �������	 ��	 �((�����'	 ���	 #����	
������	 �#	 ���	 �����	 
����(���	 ���������(;	 
*	 ����������	 ���	
.��������	+���	������'�	�����	�#	��	�4�����	��	0����������		

	
���� ��#"���	������������������ �������	����	������'$%�"�$������

	
�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%	�4������	�	��(���	�����'	�((�����	#��	�	���4��	�#	
����	����������	����	�����	���4��	�'��#�����	������(����	��	���	�����	�#	���������	
��������'	�	���	������	/��'�4��������	+�����	������	����	>����	���������	����	���	�	
���	���	#���	�����	(������	������			
	
�	�(�����	(������	��(���	��	���	�4������	�����	���������	������������	�������	
��#��������	���	��	��#�����	��	��	������	D7	4�����		
	
����������	�����	"��4����	���4��	#��	+������%	����������	���	(��(���	�����	���	
������	?=�	�#	#�����'	#��	���	���	������	��������	D@7	���	����	�����	�����	�������	
?D�7�	�#	/��	1���	&����	���	�����	��(�	5@8	�����������	-�4�	�������	96E	���	
���������	.�#����������	����	(������	��	��������	��	���	����	����	���	���������	(����	
��������'	?59��				
		
����������	�������	"��4����	���4��	#��	��������	���	3���'	���(��%	��������	���	
(��(���	#��	�	���	�����	��	(����������		
	
��4����	���4��	�������	����	����	"������(��	��������%	���	�����	)���	"1���	�#	
������'��	������(����	���-���%	#��	�����	����	����	���	(���	���4���	��	���	�����	����	#��	
�����	����	��	���	(��(���	(�������	������	
	
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		

Page 6



	
�'����	��	����������	����	���	������	(�������	��	���	��(����	B	
	

"9%	 ����	�4-���	��	(������'	������	4���'	'������	#��	������	���	������	
/��'�4�������	 ��	 �	 ���	 (������	 �����	 ��	 ���	 /1�	 ����	 ���	
�������	 ��:����	 ���	 #�������	 �#	 ���	 /1�	 �����	 ����	 ���	 �4�����	 ��	
'����	�	 ���(�����	 �������	��	 ���	 /1�	��	�����	 (��4��	���������	
��	�#	���	���	#��	���(�����	���	(�����'C		

"5%	 ����	���	�������	��:����	���	#�������	�#	���	�������	�#	��#����	����C	

"7%	 ����	���	�������	��:����	�	AAA<����	����	�#	���	���������	����C	

"=%	

		

���	�������	�����	�	�����������	���	�'�������	����	2�>	#��	���	���	
�#	 ���	 �$����'	 ���	 �����	 ���	 �������	 �#	 ��#����	 ����	 ���	 #��	 ���	
�������	(���	�#	���	/1�	����C	

"8%	 ����	���	�������	�����	����	�	���	���	����	,(����	�'�������	����	
2�>	 #��	 �((��$�������	 9�55	 ����	 �#	 ����	 ���������	 �����	 4�	
���	/1�C	

"E%	 ����	���	�������	�����	����	��	�(����	�'�������	����	2�>	
#��	 ���	 ����	 �������	 #��	 ���	 �����������	 �#	 ���	 +�����	
������	����	>���C	

"@%	 ����	���	��������	#��	�����	��	�����������	����	���	��4����	���4��	
#��	 +������	 ���	 �'���	 ���	 ����������	 ��	 �((���������	 ��'��	 ���	
�����	 ���	 ��������	 ����	 ���	 (��-���	 ����	 ���	 ����	 (����	 ��	
���(������	 �#	 ���	 ��������	 ��'��	 ��������������	 !��	 ���	 ��������	
4��	�	���	�������	���	���	�'�������	�#	������	������������	#��	���	
���	 ��	 ��:�������	 �#	 ����	 ���	 ������	 ��	 ��<	 ����������	 ��	
���������	�#	���	�$����	�#	���	����	��	4�	����#�����	��	���	��	���	
���������	 ��	 ���	 �:���������	 (�����	 (�������	 ����	 ����	 ���	
�((�����	 4�	 �	 #�����	 ���������	 #���	 ���	 �������;	 �$������	 >.��	
������C	

"D%	 ���	��:�������	�#	���	/1�	����	���	���	��������	��	�#	�	����	#���	
���	�������;	.��������	+���	�#	?5�9@6��	�4-���	��	�������	
�((������	
	

>�������������	9	B	E	���	�4-���	��	�	���#������	��(���	��	�����	���	���	�����	
�������	��'��	�'�������	4���'	��	(����	"��������'�	4��	���	�������	���	�'�������	#��	���	
������	���	�#	����	#���	2�>	��	&������	1���	���	��	������(����	(������	��	��	��	
�����������	������(��	"��	������(��%	���������	4�	2�>%�		
	
>�������������	5	B	E	���	���	�4-���	��	(������'	������	4���'	'������	#��	���	������	
/��'�4�������	"��������'	�$(���	�#	���	-�������	������	(�����%�	

	
	
	

Page 7



@=�	 				>�������������	��	���	����	�������			

	 	 !��	����	�������	�	>����������	��	�������	���	��:�������	�#	���	/1�	����	��������	
��	���	��(���	���	���	��������	��	�#	�	����	#���	���	�������;	.��������	+���	�#	
?5�9@6�	��	���	��(����	���'�����	5697	<	5698�	

	 	 	
���� ���!��*�%�������������,�-����.���

	
������	&��'����	"��������	#��	���(��%	�4������	�	��(���	��	���	����'	���4��	��	(������	
�����	���	���	(��'��	�#	������	��	����	���	������	#��	(������	�����	(����	��	���	�����	
�����	�	F4���	����;	#�������'	���	����������	�#	!��'����	&���	/���	��(�����		

!��	��(���	��	���	�����������	(��(���	#��	��	����	�$(�����	�#	���	�������	�������	
/��4��	#��	����(����	�'�	(�(��	��	���������	����#����	1���	���	>��	����#�����	
��������	���	��	�����;	�
	�������	�������	

!��	��(���	���	��'��	�((�����	�#	���	#�����'	��	4����	�	���	���	#���	�����	"+
%	�����	
����	�����	����;	(�������	��	��(����	�������	(�������	��	2�����	�������	������	���	�	���	
�������	��	��	�����;	�
	�������	�������				

����������	�������	"��4����	���4��	#��	��������	���	3���'	���(��%	����������	���	
(��(���	�����	�����������	���	�������;	����������	��	�������'	��	���	�����	�����	
���	����	��	(����	4���	�����	�(	#�������'	���	����	��	2�����	�������	�������				

)����	0�����	"������	,�'��������	����	���	�������	��	������	����'��%	���������	����	
��������	���	���	4��	(��	#������	#��	#�����'	���	4���	����#��	�����	���	���4���	���	
���������	��	4�	�����		
	
��4����	���4��	�������	���	����	���	���	�����	�(	���	4��	���	������	#������	��	
��������'	(��'��	��(����			
		
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		
		
�'����	B	
		

"9%	 ���	 ��<����	 �$(�����	 �#	 ���������	 ����#����	 1���	 ���	 >��	
����#�����	��������	���	��	�����;	�
	�������	������;	��/	#��	
����(����	�'�	(�(��C	���	

"�%	 (�4���	 �����������	 ��	 ���	 ��������	 (��(���	 ��	 �$(���	 ���	
�����C	���		

"4%	 ���������	 #��	 ���	 ��4����	 ���4��	 #��	 ��������	 ���	 3���'	
���(���	 ��	 �����������	 ����	 ���	 ��������	 #��	 ���(���	 ��	
�������	���	�������	���	��(���	��	���	��������	�������	
(�4�����	 �	 (���	 �#	 ��������	 �����	 ��'��������	 (������	
���	��	��'��	�#	����	��	����	�	#����	�������������	��	(��(����	

Page 8



		

"5%	 ���	�����	��	4����	�	���	5+
	�����	����	�����	����;	(�������	��	
��(����	���	�������	(�������	��	���	2�����	�������	������	���	
#���	��(���4��	5698�	�4-���	��	�������	�((�����	�#	���	#�����'C	
		

"7%	
		

���	 �����	 ��	 4����	 �	 ���	 �������	 ��	 ��	 �����;	 �
	 �������	
������	 ��	 ���4��	 ���	 �����	 ��	 ����	 �##������	 (���	 ��	 ��������	 ��	
�����	�������	�������	/��4��	"��/%	���	��	 �������	�����	��/	
#���	58	��	76	#���	��(���4��	569=�	�4-���	��	�������	�((�����	�#	
���	#�����'�	

	
@8�	 				>�������������	��	���	����	�������			

	 	 !��	����	�������	�	�����������	��	�����	���	��(����	���'�����	��	�������	
���	����������	�#	��	����������	<	
	

"=%	 ?5�=@8	�������	��	4����	�	���	5+
	�����	����	�����	����;	(�������	
��	��(����	���	�������	(�������	��	���	2�����	�������	������	���	
#���	��(���4��	5698C	
		

"8%	
		

?766�666	��	4����	�	���	�������	��	��	�����;	�
	�������	������	
��	 ���4��	 ���	 �����	 ��	 ����	 �##������	 (���	 ��	 ��������	 ��	 �����	
�������	�������	/��4��	"��/%	���	��	�������	�����	��/	#���	
58	��	76	#���	��(���4��	569=�	

	

	 	 	
���� %��%�����	����	����

	
�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%	�4������	�	��(���	�����'	�((�����	�#	#�����'	#��	�	
�����	��	(������	��(��������	������	��	G���	�����	���	
�(�������	���	�����	!��	
&��4�����	����	���	������������	�#	�	56(	����'�	��	�##��	���	�#	���	����			
		
����������	�������	"��4����	���4��	#��	���	
����������%	����������	���	(��(���	���	
���������	����	���	�##����	����	������'	�(	�	������'	(��'�����	�#	��#��4������	���	
������������	#��	(�4���	�����������	#��	�������������			
	
��4����	���4��	����	���	������	����	���	������	���	������	���	���	���	��������	
������	���������	�#	���	����	�����	#��	���	4��	��(�	������	���	�	/�������	����'���	������	
#��	(�4���	�������		
	
)����	�������	"������	��������	#��	
������������	�������%	���	���������	��������	
"���-���	����'��%	���	��������	���	������'�		
	
����������	
���	"�������	������%	������	����������	����	���	��	)����;	���	������'	�#	
��4����	4�#���	���	����������	���	�������	���	#��	���	������	��	���	����	���	���	��������	
	
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		
		

Page 9



�'����	����	���	��(����	���'�����	�	�������	��	�������	?7@9�666	#��	�	�����	��	(������	
��(��������	������	��	G���	�����	���	
�(�������	���	�����	!��	&��4�����	���	#�����'	��	4�	
���	#���	��(����	�����(��	
	

���� �/����� ��	���	���'$	��'�!���	����������	���	���
	
�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%	�4������	�	��(���	��	���	�������	�#	���	(����������	
#��	���	�������	�#	���	�����������	��������	#��	���	��(�������	������������	��(����	
����#��������	�((��	���	�����������	�#	�����	��'����'	���	�����������	����	�'�	���	
�����������	���	�((��������	�#	���	����#��	���������	
	
�	�(�����	(������	��(���	��	���	�4������	�����	���������	������������	�������	
��#��������	���	��	��#�����	��	��	������	D=	4�����	�
	
����������	�����	"��4����	���4��	#��	!���(���%	����������	���	(��(���	���	���������	
����	���	�������	�����	����	��	4�	�����	��	(�������				
	
.��	
���	"/������	������	����'��%	��(�����	��	���	(��������	����'	#���	�������	
�����������	���	���	���	����'�	�����	��'����'	����������			
	

"���	������	D=	4����%	
	

���� �/����� ������	���	� ���	$��*�"�'��������&�0�1-�23�
�"����	�������!!���	�������+������
	

������	&��'����	"��������	#��	���(��%	�4������	�	��(���	��	���	�������	�#	���	������	
(����	#�������'	�((������	��	�����	5697�	��	��������	����	�������;	3���'	�����;	
"�'��	9E<58%	�������������	����������'	����	#��	���	(�����	5697<5656	��	�����	��	
�������	������	���	�����'�	���	�������������	(������	���	���������	�((�����	�#	���	
����#��	���������		
	
�	�(�����	(������	��(���	��	���	�4������	�����	���������	������������	�������	
��#��������	���	��	��#�����	��	��	������	D8	4�����		
	
����������	��������	"��4����	���4��	#��	��4���	1�����	���	�����	������	����%	����������	
���	(��(���	���	���������	����	����	�����	(������	�	��'��	(����	�#	�����	�	����	����	
������	������	���	���'��	����	�((���	���	�������������	�����	�������	#��	����'	
(��(���		.#	�'�����	���	����������'	�����	���	?99D�	���������	
	
����'	�������	"1���	�#	)����	������'��	����������'%	���	2���	�������	"������'��	
����������'	����'��%	��������	���	������'	#��	���	����	���	������	����	���	
����������	#��	8E	����	�#	�������������	�����	���4��	���	�������	��	��(���	��	����'	
(��(��	��	�	����	���	���	��(����	���������	��	���	����	�����	�����	��'�	�������	�#	
�������������	#��	���	����'	(��(���		
	
����������	
���	"�������	������%	���'���������	���	�##����	��	�����	����	���	����	����	
���	�������'	#���	���	(����	��	������������	��	�����	����	��	���	��������		
	
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	

Page 10



	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		
		
�'����	��	�����	�	�����	����	���������	���������'	��	�(����	��	�$����	���	��������	#��	�	
#������	�����	����	��	������	����������	��	���	���	������������	�������'���	���������	
�	��������	��	���	(������	��(���	��#�����	��	��	������	D8�	#��	���	����'�����	�#	�	F3���'	
�����;	"9E<58%	�������������	�������	��	���������			
	

���� 	$����"�����'�����	������
	
�������	���	"������	��������	#��	+�������	
##���������	!�������'�	���	���%	�4������	
�	��(���	<		
		

"�%	 �����'	����	���	��*��	,�'��������	��	�	�����	���������	�����	
(�������	�#	�	���'�	�#	��(�������	���	�������'	(��'�����	#��	
(��(��	����	���4�������	��	�(	��	5668C				
		

"4%	 ��	�	(��(���	4�	��������	����	��������	��'�����	����	��	�����	
(������	�����������	�����	������	��������	!��4��	��������	���	
�������	��������	��	���	��	�������	��	���	��*��	,�'��������	���	
����#��	�������(	��	���	��������	�������	!�����'	�����C	
		

"�%	
		

���������'	����	!�����'	�����	�##����	��	�����	�((��������	#��	��*��	
��	�������	��	���	���	�����	���(	�����	��	���'	����	#������					

	
����������	�����	"��4����	���4��	#��	+������%	����������	���	(��(���	���	��(�����	
����	�����	�����	��	��(���	#���	���	(��(���	��	������	����	��##	��	�$����'	����	
��(�������	
	
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		
		
�'����	B	
		

"9%	 ���	���	�#	��*��	��	!�����'	�����	�(��	���	����	�	��������	��	���	
��(���C	
		

"5%	 ����	���������	�	����'����	��	���	��4����	���4��	#��	+�������	��	
�����������	����	���	���������'	,##����	���	�������	989	,##�����	��	
����	����	���	�((����	���	���������'	������	�	(���	�#	���	���	�#	
��*��C		
		

"7%	
		

����	 ��4����	 ��������	 ���	 ���������'	 ,##����	 ��	 �����	 ����	 ���	
�������	 ��'��	 �������������	 ��	 ���(����	 ���	 ���	 �#	 ��*��	 ��	
!�����'	������	

	
	
	

Page 11



���� ��-�����	�+����!!��������'�����!��4�	�!���'�!��	�-���
 ��!�/��4� �������+����'���%�������	���-�����	�+����"�������
	
������	&��'����	"��������	#��	���(��%	���	�����	!�����	".������	��������	#��	���(�����	
�������%	�4������	�	��(���	(�������'	�	#��������	#��	��<�(�������	����������'	���	
������	����'�����	���	�����'	���	�	���4��	�#	����������'	����������'	(�����(��	#��	
�((������	�

����������	
���	"�������	������%	����������	���	(��(����				
	
����'	�������	"1���	�#	)����	������'��	����������'%	��(�����	����	���	(��(���	
(�������	��	�((��������	��	����#���	����������'	����	��<������(�����	��<(���������	
���	��<����������	�#	������	����	���	����	�����	��	���	������	�#	����������'�	
	
!��	���������	�#	��4����	���4��	��	���	�����	��	���	�((������	��	���	��(���	�����	
�����������	����	���	�������	���	�������	������	��	����	��	���	����			
	
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		
	
�'����	����	B	
		

"9%	 ���	�������	���(�	���	��<�(�������	����������'	(�����(��	�	��	
���	��	���	#��������	��	4�	�((����	����	(������'�	������(��'�	
���������'	���	���������'	������C	
		

"5%	 ����������	��	���	#��������	��	������	��<�(�������	������	
�����	���	#���	���	������4��C	
		

"7%	
		

���	 �������	 ��	 ���	 #��������	 ��	 ���(	 �������	 ���	 ��4���	 �������	
"������	�����%	���	5695�			

	
���� ����+����'�	$����-�����	�+��+������/�	$�����	$����*����

�"�	����%���%��������%"�'�	�0����"���'����,5�2���� 	�
%"�'�	3���
	
!�����	���	"����#	
$�������%	�4������	�	��(���	��	���	����������	�����	����	4�������	
4��'��	#��	���	(�����	569=H98	��	569EH9@	��	#��#��	���	�������;	��������	��(���4�����	�#	
�����'	�	��4��	���	��������	������	4��'���	�	����������	��	+�'���	9E	��	(�'�	5@	�#	���	
��(���	��	���	�4�������		
	
����������	�����	"��4����	���4��	#��	+������%	���	����������	
���	"�������	������%	
����������	���	(��(����	��'���'����'	���	�������;	��4�����	����#��������	(��'�����	��	
���(	���	�������	4�����	�	4��������	��<�(�������	�������	���	�������	���	(��������	#��	���	
����	��(���	���	#�����'	'�(	�����	4�	'���������	����	����'	���	���	��������'	������	
#��	���	�������		!��	(��'�����	��������	<					
				
	
	

Page 12



"�%	 �����'	������	4�	�����'	�	(��������	���	#�����	�((�����	��	#��	���	
����'��	#�������'	�((�����	�#	���	+���	����'�	���	��������	
�������	�����	#��	���	����'�	�����	4�	��������	����	�((��(�����	
������	�#	4���'	(���	�#	���	������	4��'��	�����'	(����C		
	

"4%	 �����'���'	�	���'�	�#	������	���	(�������'	����	��	���	����	+��	
�$��(���	���	
���������	�������'	���	+�����	��((���	������	�����	
4�����	�	��<�(�������	��	���4��	��	��	��������	��	(������	��'�	
:������	������	�����	������'	���	'��������'	������C	
	

"�%	
		

�	������	����#����	����	���	(��(���	�����	������(����'	�	
���������	�#	����	����	766	(��	�����'	569=H98	���	5698HE�	�����	
(��4��	4�	����'��'	��������	���	�����'�	�	���������	������	
�����C	
			

"�%	 �$(�����'	���	�#	������'	��	(��������(	���	�	�����'	�(	�	�����	
.�!	������	���	-����	������'	����	�����	(�4���	�����	(�������	

	
��4����	���4��	����	���	������	����	B	
	

"�%	 ��	��	(��(���	��	���	?9�@�	��	���	4��	4��'��	4�	��������'�����
�������	!�$	4�	9�AA	(��	����C			
	

"#%	 ���	4��'��	(������	�����	����'�	�	���	#�����'	���������	#��	�����	
'���������	��		���	�$(�����	�����	���	���	�#	�����4��	5697C	
	

"'%	 �������;	����	����	4���'	��'��	��	��#������	���	���	(��-�����	
����#���	�����	4�	��������C	
	

"�%	 (��(���	����	�����	������������	��	�����	���	�����	�������	!�$	
��((���	 ������	 ��	 ������	 ���	 ������	 ����	 �����	 ���	 �#	 ������'	
�'�	 ��	 ��:�����	 ��	 (��	 #���	 ��	 ����	 58	 (������	 ��	 56	 (������	�#	
�����	 �������	 ��$	 4����	 ����	 �##���	 #���	 �(���	 569=�	 	 !��	 �����	 4�	
�4-���	��	�	#������	��4����	��(����		

	
!��	���(�����	����'�����	!���	��	�������	#��	(�������'	���	4��'��	(��(���	���	���	
����#	
$�������	���������	��	����	���	�������'�	����	���	�������	#����	����	���	����;	
���4��	�#	�����������	
	
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(����		
	
�'����	����	B	
		

"9%	 ���	 (��(���	 �������	 ���'��	 4��'��	 ��:��������	 #��	 569=H98	 �#	
?567�	 (����	 ���	 ��(����	 #������	 �#	 ?568�	 �	 (�������	 #��	 #���	
(�4���	�������	��	)������	569=C		

Page 13



"5%	 ���4��	���	�##����	��������	��	4���'	#������	#������	�������	��	
�����	��	����	���	�$����'	?9�9�	4��'��	'�(	��	569=H98C			

"7%	 ���	 (��(���	 ����������	�������	 #������	 #��	 5698H9E	 ���	 569EH9@	
���	���	(�������	#��	#���	(�4���	�������	��	)������	569=C	

"=%	 ���	 #�����'	 #���	 ���	 ������������	 #���4���	 #���	 4��'��	 �������	
���	 ���	 ��������	 ����'�	 ���������	 ��	 ���	 #����	 ���������	 ���	
���������	 4�	 ��4�����	 (����	 ��	 �	 ��������������	 ��	 ���	 ����	
�������	��	+�4�����	569=�				

	
�	�� �6�!�	�%"���������

	
�'����	����	�����	�������	966"�%"=%	�#	���	�����	0���������	����	9A@5�	���	(��	���	
(�4���	4�	�$������	#���	���	������'	#��	���	#�������'	����	�#	4����	��	���	'�����	����	
����	�������	���	������	��������	�#	�$��(�	��#��������	�	��#����	��	(���'��(�	7	�#	����	9	
�#	��������	95�	�#	���	����	�	�������	4�	���	+������	�#	.�#��������	���	5666�	
	

�
�� ��#"���	������������������ �������	����	������'$%�"�$����
0��3���
	
+������	��	������	@=	�4����	�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%	�4������	�	��(���	��	
������������	�������	������	�������'	��	��:�������	���	��(���	�#	����	��	������	
/��'�4��������					
	

���� �/����� ��	���	���'$	��'�!���	����������	���	�0��3���
	
+������	��	������	@@	�4����	�������	�����	"��������	#��	�����%	�4������	�	��(���	��	
������������	�������	������	#�������'	���	(����������	#��	���	�������	�#	���	�����������	
��������	#��	���	��(�������	������������	��(����	����#��������	�((��	���	�����������	�#	
�����	��'����'	���	�����������	����	�'��		
�
�����������	�(����	���������	���	�����	#��	���	�������	B	
	
�	��	���	��	���	��(���	��#�����	��	��	������	@@	�4����		
	
�'����	����	���	��������	#��	���	�����������	���	.����������	�#	������	��'����'	���	
.����������	!��##��	��'�	569=	��	569D	�	�������	��	���	���	������������	�������'���	
���������	�4-���	��	���(������	����	���	��:��������	�#	���	�������	��	4���������'�		.�	���	
�����	�#	���<���(�������	����	���	��������	�	�������	��	���	���	������������	
�������'���	��������	���	���(���	����	���	��:��������	��	4���������'�		�
	

���� �/����� ������	���	� ���	$��*�"�'�������&��0�1-�23�
�"����	�������!!���	�������+����0��3���
	
+������	��	������	@D	�4����	������	&��'����	"��������	#��	���(��%	�4������	�	��(���	��	
������������	�������	������	#�������'	���	������	(����	#��	���	3���'	�����;	"9E	B	58%	
��((�����	�������������	��������		
	
	

Page 14



�$���&��"�'��	����+�	��%"���������
	

����  "	"�������!!���	������#"���!��	��0��3���
	
����	��#������	��	������		@6	�4����	������	&��'����	"��������	#��	���(��%	���	�������	
�����	"��������	#��	�����%	�4������	�	-����	��(���	�����'	�((�����	�#	���	(��(����	
����������	��	#���������	���	������	�#	��##	���	������	#���	���	�����	�������				
	
!��	��(���	���������	����	���	������	��	��'���	(������	4����	���	���	�������	��	��	
��'���	���	�������	4�����	��	��	��(�������4��	��	��#��	���	�������	�����	��4����	��	9=	
)������	569=	"����	(�4��������	�#	���	#������	(���	��	9E	�����4��	5697%	�	���	�������	
������	��	�����	��'�������	(��(����	����	��	���	������	���	��	�����	��	�������������	
��:��������	���	�	�������	��	��:�����	4�#���	���	�����		.�	���	�������	�#	���	��������	
���������	������	��	��:�����	��	�����	���	4��	����	���	��	��	�����#���	(��(���	��	
��(������	���	�������	�����������	�#���	��4�����		�((�����	#��	���	��'���	��4����	�������	
���	4���	�4������	#���	����������	)����	�����	�#	���	��<�(�������	��������	&����	���	���	
��(���	�����	4�	�4������	��	���	��<�(�������	��������	&�����			
			
��	�����	"!���#��������	���'�����	����'��%�	�����	!����	"������	����������	
������%	���	����	!������	"1���	�#	��(����	���	���%	��������	���	������'	���	(�������	
���	(��(����			
	
+������	�������	����	��'��	4������	���	��4����	���4��	#��	+������	���	�##�����	��	
�������	���	1���	�#	�������������	��	�	#������	��(���	��	��4����	��	���	������					
			
�'����	���	���	(��(����	����������	�	��������	��	���	��(���	���	����	���	�������	���	
��(��������	������������	�
	
	
	
	

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Minute AnnexPage 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 
Subject:   Revised Council Tax Support Scheme  

Committee:   Cabinet  

Date:   14 January 2014  

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Lowry  

CMT Member: Malcolm Coe (Assistant Director for Finance)  

Author: Malcolm Coe, Assistant Director for Finance   

Contact details:  Tel: 01752 307878 
   Email: malcolm.coe@plymouth.gov.uk   

Ref: 

Key Decision:  No   

Part: 1   
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
The Government delegated funding and authority for local councils to implement localised Council 
Tax Support (CTS) schemes from April 2013. The level of funding passported from government 
represented a reduction to councils compared to the previous national based Council Tax benefit 
scheme. For Plymouth, this equated to a benefits budget cut of circa £2.6m per annum. 
 
Plymouth City Council developed their local CTS scheme, along with other Devon Councils, on the 
basis of being cost neutral i.e. the level of benefits given to the public was within the affordability 
envelope of the budget provided by Government. 
 
Under government rules, certain benefit claimants had to be protected under local CTS schemes, 
mainly pensioners and those claiming single person discount. The key impact of this was a real term 
cut to the working age council tax benefit claimant. 
 
Some flexibility was offered to local councils to restrict the level of benefits given to those in higher 
value, (and banded), properties. Due to the city having a disproportionately high number of Band A 
and Band B properties, the only way that Plymouth was able to close a funding gap of £2.6m was to 
reduce the level of Council Tax benefit given to all claimants. Along with many other Devon 
Councils, we adopted a scheme that required everyone of working age having to pay at least 25% 
towards their Council Tax bill. 
 
Following consultation with local residents, the 2013/14 Plymouth scheme was set up based on the 
following criteria: 

• Disregards income from war disablement pension when determining levels of support; 
 

• Takes into account savings of more than £6,000 for claimants of working age; 
 
• Households in property Bands E and above are subject to a maximum level of support 

equivalent to Band E level only; 
 
• Removes the Second Adult Rebate discount for working age residents; 
 
• Requires all working age residents to contribute at least 25% towards their Council Tax 

bill. 

Agenda Item 6Page 23



The purpose of this report is to review the impact of the localised CTS for Plymouth and make 
relevant recommendations for changes in 2014/15, following consideration of the scrutiny report on 
the Council Tax (attachment of earnings) from the Co-operative Scrutiny Board.  
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:   
 
This report is fundamentally linked to delivering the priorities within the Council’s Corporate Plan. 
As well as allocating limited resources to key priorities to maximise the benefits to the residents of 
Plymouth, this amendment aligns with our “Caring” objective to be a fairer, more equal city. 
          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land: 
 
The localised CTS scheme introduced by Plymouth in 2013/14 contained certain assumptions in 
relation to the level of Council Tax collection rates. The new scheme resulted in circa 16,000 
residents having to pay at least 25% of their Council Tax bill for the first time. As a result, we took a 
prudent view as to our ability to collect Council Tax income due. 
 
The 2013/14 scheme also contained an element of financial contingency to accommodate an 
estimated increase in individuals claiming benefits due to the economic climate and impact on national 
welfare reform changes. In reality, the total number of benefit claimants throughout the last 12 
months has remained fairly static at around 29,000. 
 
A further contingency was created to facilitate an ‘exceptional hardship fund’ to make one-off 
payments to those who were struggling most to pay their council tax bills. Actual call against this fund 
has been much lower than anticipated in the first 9 months of this financial year. 
 
Reviewing the relatively low call on contingency to date in 2013/14, the council wishes to ease the 
burden on those most struggling financially in the community. As such, we are proposing to reduce 
the minimum amount that working age residents have to contribute for their council tax from 25% to 
20%. This would benefit the average CTS claimant by approx. £50 per year. 
 
In addition, the number of individuals that are issued summonses, and subsequent Liability Orders, 
(LO), for non-payment of council tax has increased in recent years. This is a similar trend throughout 
many local authorities reflecting the difficult financial times. It is estimated that approx. 8,000 
Plymouth residents will be charged £83 each for LOs in 2013/14. Whereas the £83 that the council 
charges is in line with Council average, (as per CIPFA benchmarking), and the charge has not risen for 
three years, again, reviewing the call against Council Tax contingency has enabled us to consider 
reducing this charge for the 2013/14 financial year to £60 per Liability Order to help those most in 
need. 
 
As required, we have undertaken formal public consultation on the proposed changes to the existing 
CTS for 2014/15. We have also provided further detail to our Co-operative Scrutiny Board; the 
Board supports the the proposal that Plymouth City Council should reduce the minimum 
contribution that working age people should pay towards their council tax bill from the current 25 
percent to 20 percent; the the Co-operative Scrutiny Board also supports the proposal that 
Plymouth City Council should reduce the fee charged when the Council makes an application for a 
Council Tax Attachment of Earnings order from £83 to £60. The Board also made a number of 
further recommendations which are being considered. The scrutiny report is attached as an appendix 
to this report. 
 
The proposed changes to the scheme now need to be formally adopted by Full Council by 31 January 
2014 in order to be effective by 1 April 2014. 
 

Page 24



The net full year revenue cost of implementing the two proposed changes is circa £900k which has 
been factored into the overall proposed budget for 2014/15. Following the final settlement from 
government for the next financial year 2014/15, which confirmed the shortfall in council tax benefit 
funding does not exceed the £2.6m cut already enacted, the changes are affordable within the existing 
budget and earmarked revenue contingency.   
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 
The service undertakes annual benefit take up campaigns which are targeted to areas of greatest 
need. When introducing the new local CTS scheme in 2013/14, all 16,000 residents affected by the 
changes were contacted individually in advance of receiving their first bill. Through these phone calls, 
many were able to claim additional benefits to which they were entitled to. 
 
Equality and Diversity: 

An effective Revenues and Benefits service helps address inequalities through ensuring that the most 
vulnerable residents receive appropriate benefit entitlement.  The proposed changes outlined in this 
report recognise the financial burden and strain on the most vulnerable people in our community and 
offers some financial assistance back to those residents. 
  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
 

1. Cabinet note and adopt the recommendations from the Co-operative Scrutiny Board;  
 

2. recommend to Full Council for approval that the 2013/14 Council Tax Support scheme 
continues for the 2014/15 financial year and that all elements of the scheme remain the same 
except the requirement for minimum contribution for all working age residents reducing from 
25% to 20%; 
  

3. Cabinet approve the cost levied by the Council for Liability Orders be reduced from £83 to 
£60 with effect from 1 April 2014. 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
Make no changes to the 2013/14 CTS scheme. This would result in an unspent contingency that was 
earmarked specifically for the implementation of the localised Council Tax Support scheme. In effect, 
the scheme would not be running on a cost neutral basis, generating a surplus through unspent 
contingency. 
 
Many other Devon councils are retaining the 25% minimum contribution rate, but applying the 
Council’s values we should be ‘fair’ in how this funding is distributed to those most in need.   

Page 25



 
 
Published work / information: 
Council Tax Support scheme 2013/14 
 
 
Background papers: 
None 
 
Sign off:  
  
Fin Djn1

314.
28 

Leg 1917
9/D
VS 

Mon 
Off 

1917
9/D
VS 

HR  Assets   IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member: Malcolm Coe 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes  
 

Page 26



COUNCIL TAX 
(ATTACHMENT OF EARNINGS)

A report of the Cooperative Scrutiny Board Review 
group following a review of Council Tax (Attachment 
of Earnings)

Page 27



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 1 

 
CONTENTS 

 
 

1.  Introduction     
 

2.  Scrutiny Approach 
 

3.  Findings 
 

4.  Conclusions 
 

5.  Recommendations 
  
6.  Acknowledgement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 2 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Council tax is an important part of the financing of local government and other  local 

services. The money raised by council tax is used to make up the difference between 
funding supplied by central government and the money required by Plymouth City 
Council to supply all the services needed by the residents of Plymouth. It also 
contributes towards the cost of services provided by the Police  and Devon and 
Somerset Fire and Rescue Services. It was brought into effect on 1 April 1993 and 
replaced the community charge system. 

 
1.2 The council tax pays for a large range of council services which include (for this year) 
 - 

§ an average of 51,378 free school meals served a month 
§ prevented more than 500 families from becoming homeless 
§ collected 111,820 tonnes of waste (446kg for each resident) 
§ looked after 5,061 children in the council’s children’s centres 
§ looked after 950 hectares of parks, open spaces and woodland 
§ helped over 11,000 older and vulnerable adults 
§ used 1,300 tonnes of grit on roads during the winter period 

 
1.3 Council tax was calculated on eight valuation bands which were based on the estimated 

value of residential properties as of 1 April 1991. Depending on an individual’s income 
and circumstances they may be entitled to help with council tax in the form of council 
tax benefit, which if awarded reduced the council tax bill. 
 

1.4 The introduction of changes to the welfare system by central government in April 2013 
(Local Government Finance Act 2012), had resulted in local authorities reducing the 
amount of benefits issued to residents. Plymouth City Council approved a scheme which 
resulted in every-one of working age being required to pay at least 25 percent of their 
council tax bill. The introduction of the scheme had led to many vulnerable people 
having to pay council tax for the first time. 
 

1.5 Council tax was a priority debt and as such should be paid before any non-priority debts 
such as credit debts, hire purchase agreements, unsecured bank loans, etc. 

 
1.6 The most recent evidence published reported that 8.8 million people in the UK had ‘problem 

debt’ and out of this figure 2 million people were in receipt of benefits, whilst the remainder 
were in work, students or pensioners. 

 
1.7 At a meeting of the Cooperative Scrutiny Board on 7 August 2013, the Cabinet Member 

for Finance raised concerns relating to evidence based information showing that 
residents were going into debt in order to pay council tax and costs incurred relating to 
debt recovery action. 

 
1.8 This report summarises the findings of the cooperative review group and makes a 

number of recommendations to help improve the process.  
 
 
 

Page 29



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 3 

2 SCRUTINY APPROACH 
 
2.1 The Co-operative Scrutiny Management Board approved the establishment of the co-

operative review to look at Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) at its meeting on 7 
August 2013. 

 
2.2 Co-operative Review Aims and Objectives 
 
2.2.1 The aims of the Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) review were to – 

 
§ identify the impact on residents and the Council; 
§ analyse the reasons why people are going into debt (was this due to poor 

financial management); 
§ identify the support that the Council provides and also voluntary sector; 
§ have a better understanding of the process. 

 
2.2.2 The objectives of the co-operative review were to clarify the financial impact on both 

working residents and residents receiving benefits of not paying council tax, the debt 
recovery process and whether any improvements could be implemented.  

 
2.3 Co-operative Review Membership 

 
2.3.1 The co-operative review group had cross-party membership comprising the following – 
 

§ Councillor James (Chair) 
§ Councillor Mrs Aspinall  
§ Councillor Bowyer 
§ Councillor Casey 
§ Councillor Tuffin 
 

2.3.2 For the purposes of the review, the co-operative review group was supported by - 
 
§ Giles Perritt, Head of Policy, Performance and Partnerships (Lead Officer) 
§ Helen Wright, Democratic Support Officer 

 
2.4 Co-operative Review Methodology  

 
2.4.1 The co-operative review group convened for one session, on 15 November 2013 to 

review the documentation submitted as evidence and to hear from a number of 
witnesses. 

 
2.4.2 Witnesses - 

 
§ Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) 
§ Jo Ryder (Council Tax Service Manager) 
§ Paul Dean (Court Officer) 
§ Steve Meakin (Advice Plymouth) 
§ Sarah McNiece (Advice Plymouth) 

 
 

Page 30



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 4 

3 FINDINGS 
 
3.1 As a result of the changes to the welfare system which had been implemented in  April 
 2013, a total of 19,280 households in Plymouth had seen a reduction in council tax 
 support of £4 per week. 
 
3.2 In April 2013, 13,395 customers had not paid the first month’s scheduled instalment 

compared to 6,184 in April 2012, which represented a 116 percent increase.  This figure 
included 5,943 customers who were eligible to pay council tax for the first time. During 
the first quarter of 2013/14 customers wishing to discuss council tax arrears on a ‘face 
to face’ basis increased by 49.54 percent. 

 
3.3 Currently19,280 residents were eligible to pay council tax for the first time. For this 
 group of residents (between April and September 2013), the following had been issued - 
 

§ 14,408 reminders  
§ 6,224 summonses 
§ 3,798 liability orders 
§ 2,308 attachments to benefits 
§ 54 attachments to earnings 

3.4 Debt Recovery Process 
 
3.4.1 The debt recovery process for non-payment of council tax, was set out below – 
 

§ the first reminder would be sent out when the payment was overdue by 14 days; 
§ a summons was issued 21 days later; 
§ a court hearing would take place 21 days later at which a Liability Order was 

obtained; 
§ once a Liability Order was obtained an attachment to earnings or benefits could 

be set up (unless there was already an excessive amount being deducted) 
§ bailiff action was taken as a last resort; 

 
3.4.2 It was important to note that any stage of this, process customers were urged to 
 contact the council at the earliest opportunity to avoid potential debt recovery action.  
 The focus of the reminder notice sent to customers, prior to the court summons, had 
 been changed to encourage payment and reflect the need to contact the council. 
 
3.4.3 If a customer was experiencing difficulty in paying council tax or had fallen into arrears, 
 there were a number of options that were considered, such as – 
 

§ lower payment instalments;  
§ 12 monthly instalments; 
§ weekly and fortnightly instalments 
§ payment plan 
§ Liability Order 

 
3.4.4 An option to provide a lower payment arrangement had been introduced which enabled 
 customers, who were in receipt of benefits and unable to meet their instalments, to 
 begin to adapt to paying council tax for the first time and also ensure that they got into 
 the habit of paying.  

Page 31



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 5 

 These cases were closely monitored and could be re-negotiated in order to 
 provide time to manage incomes and negotiate payments with other debtors such as 
 credit cards, loans, etc. 
 
3.4.5 In addition to the introduction of 12 monthly instalments, customers were also given 
 the opportunity to pay either on a weekly or fortnightly basis. 
 
3.4.6 It was noted that bailiff action would only be considered as a last resort, in order to avoid 

additional costs being incurred (the average cost of bailiff action was £300). However, it was 
important that recovery action was taken for non-payment to avoid the burden falling on the 
remaining council tax payers. The number of bailiff instructions made in Plymouth in 2012 was 
7,894 (this figure included actions for car parking enforcement) which equated to a bailiff 
visiting one in 14 households within the city. 

 
3.4.7 The council was also able to apply to a Magistrates’ Court for a Liability Order against 

the customer. If the court granted the Liability Order, the council had a number of 
options to recover the debt. One option considered was a council tax attachment of 
earnings order.  The cost of the Liability Order was currently £83 (which included the 
cost of the Order together with the council’s associated costs). It was reported that the 
Magistrates’ Court charged £3 per Liability Order issued.  The group raised concerns as 
to whether the council’s associated costs of £80, were actually proportionate and 
reasonable and whether the most vulnerable customers should have to pay for the 
overheads of the overall recovery process, including the cost of late payers who paid 
before court action. 

 
3.4.8 Where a customer was in receipt of benefits, or employed and their employment details 
 were held, an attachment order was made following the court hearing.  The amounts 
 that were deducted were set by legislation and were unable to be altered by the council 
 (as referred to below) – 
 

Net Weekly Earnings Deduction Rate % 

Up to £75.00 0 

Exceeding £75.00 but not £135 3 

Exceeding £135 but not £185 5 

Exceeding £185 but not £225 7 

Exceeding £225 but not £355 12 

Exceeding £335 but not £505 17 

Over £505 17 % for the first £505 and then 
50% for the remainder 

Customers in receipt of benefits £3.60 deducted per week 
 
3.4.9 A request was sent to either the Department of Work and Pensions or the employer 
 advising of the deduction amount. Confirmation of the deduction was sent to the 
 customer. If the customer’s source of income was unknown, a notice was sent informing 
 the customer that a Liability Order had been obtained and requesting details of their 
 income. On receipt of this information a decision was made on the most appropriate 
 way to recover the debt. 

Page 32



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 6 

3.5 Impact of Council Tax Arrears on Both Residents and the Council’s Budget 
 
3.5.1 There was a close association between mental health issues and debt. One in two 
 British adults with a problem debt also had a mental health problem. Such mental health 
 problems affected the way in which people thought, felt or behaved and could have a 
 negative impact on their lives and their family and friends. One in six adults had a mental 
 health problem such as depression, anxiety, panic disorder, etc. (It was important to 
 note that Advice Plymouth employed one mental health advocate on a part time basis). 
 
3.5.2 In the majority of cases those customers in arrears were unaware of the severe 

implications of not paying their council tax bills. With the threat of bailiff action or 
imprisonment this directly impacted on any children in the household and could have 
the effect of pushing them in to poverty.  Customers faced with extreme hardship were 
forced to make difficult financial decisions such as taking out loans from door to door 
lenders or pay day loans which attracted extremely high interest rates. 

 
3.5.3 Whilst there was no clear evidence that the requirement to pay council tax was 
 increasing the number of people in debt there is nonetheless an impact on those who 
 already have problem debts. 
 
3.5.4 However, council tax was a significant source of the council’s core funding which 

equated to over 40 percent of its total resources available to provide services to the 
public. In setting the council’s budget an allowance was included for the non-collection 
of council tax (currently 2.5 percent). However, if less council tax was collected than 
budgeted for, this could result in difficult decisions being made to address the deficit, 
such as cuts to services or an increase in the level of council tax charged. 

 
3.6 Support Provided to Customers 
 
3.6.1 In recognition of the impact of the Welfare Reforms the council had adapted its 

recovery strategy to a more proactive and supportive approach.  A more proactive 
approach had been adopted in contacting customers to discuss non payment with 
specific focus on payment options and frequency, payment plans, financial management 
and also signposting customers to other organisations who could help. Customers’ 
circumstances were reviewed to ensure that the appropriate discounts and benefits 
were in place. 

 
3.6.2 Advice Plymouth was a formal consortium of not for profit advice agencies, commissioned by 

the council to deliver a co-ordinated advice and information service for the people of 
Plymouth. The consortium included the following organisations – 

 
§ Plymouth Citizen’s Advice Bureau 
§ Age UK Plymouth 
§ Routeways Ltd 
§ Plymouth Guild 

3.6.3 Advice Plymouth provided advice and information on the following areas – 
 

§ benefits 
§ consumer 
§ employment 

Page 33



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 7 

§ housing 
§ legal 
§ money and utilities 
§ relationships 
§ tax and tax credits 
§ water debt gateway 

3.6.4 Customers approaching Advice Plymouth for support relating specifically to council tax 
arrears were made aware of their responsibility to pay this debt and the implications of 
not doing so. Customers were advised of all the facts in order to be able to make 
informed lifestyle changes.  Support was provided by investing key issues, such as – 

 
§ maximising income streams (increasing hours of work); 
§ looking for a job 
§ reviewing entitlement to benefits; 
§ contributions by independents living at home; 
§ budgeting skills (reduce energy costs, food expenditure, etc) 

 
3.6.5 Advice Plymouth found that in many instances customers in arrears did not engage at an 

early stage and as such these cases were particularly challenging to resolve. Early 
intervention with customers was crucial, although this had been difficult to achieve.  It 
was considered that customers’ perceptions needed to be changed relating to the 
service provided by the council (customers were fearful of contacting the council as 
they thought they would receive a negative response). 

 
3.6.6 It was important to be able to assess customers’ needs when the initial approach was 

made to Advice Plymouth.  This enabled the right level of support to be provided to 
customers, thus better utilising the limited resources available. 

 
3.6.7 Staff dealing with the collection of council tax were trained to take a holistic view of the 

customers’ situation. Staff were able to signpost customers to various support groups 
including Advice Plymouth and provide information on the council’s hardship funds. 

 
3.6.8 The council had several discretionary ‘pots’ of money which offered financial support to 

eligible residents, such as the – 
  

§ Emergency and Welfare fund (used in the case of a crisis or resettlement) 
§ Discretionary Housing Payment fund (providing support for those who are 

unable to afford rent or removals costs) 
§ Council Tax Exceptional Hardship fund (provided for those struggling to pay 

council tax); 
§ Homeless Prevention Fund 

 
3.6.9 As take up of the Council Tax Exceptional Hardship fund was currently low, council staff 

were actively encouraging residents who faced extreme hardship to apply for this fund. 
A trial was currently taking place as to the best way to contact customers, ie either by 
telephone or completing a form. 

 
 
 

Page 34



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 8 

3.6.10 The council had produced a ‘Money Advice’ booklet to help residents better understand 
the changes following Welfare Reforms and also worked closely with the local Credit 
Union (City of Plymouth Credit Union) to encourage residents to save and to access 
affordable borrowing. 

 
3.7 Consultation on Proposed Changes to Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
3.7.1 Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) informed the group that following 

Government changes to the welfare system the council approved a local Council Tax 
Support Scheme in April 2013, which resulted in everyone of working age being 
required to pay at least 25 percent of their council tax bill.  It was proposed to reduce 
this to 20 percent from April 2014.  There was a further proposal to reduce the cost of 
a Liability Order from £83 to £60 also from April 2014. 

 
4 CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1  In view of the evidence provided, the group was in full support of the proposal to 

reduce the minimum contribution that working age people should pay toward their 
council tax bill from the current 25 percent to 20 percent and also the reduction in the 
cost of a Liability Order from £83 to £60. 

 
4.2 Lower instalment payments had been introduced in order to assist customers to pay 

their council tax bills. The group felt that a further option should be considered 
whereby a ‘tapered’ repayment schedule was introduced for those in council tax arrears 
(the initial repayments would be lower and would gradually increase). 

 
4.3 Whilst staff employed by the council had the option for their council tax to be deducted 

from their salaries, this facility was not currently available from other employers based 
in the city. The group thought that this was good practice and as such should be further 
investigated to ascertain whether this option could be offered by other employers. 

 
4.4 The group considered that in order to promote better financial management, tenants 

should be made aware of any council tax liabilities as part of the letting process. Tenants 
would be able to make informed financial decisions prior to renting a property. 

 
4.5 The group heard from Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance), that there had 

been a low take up of the Council Tax Exceptional Hardship fund and suggested that 
monies from this fund could be made available to encourage customers to open a 
bank/savings account with a Credit Union which would help them to better manage 
their finances and assist them to pay their bills.  The group considered that this matter 
should be further investigated. 

 
4.6 There were a number of reasons why customers in arrears were not engaging with the 

council, at an early stage.  Some customers found the wording and the complexity of the 
correspondence extremely confusing.  The group thought that a review should be 
undertaken to specifically focus on the language used in the correspondence sent to 
those in council tax arrears. 

 

Page 35



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 9 

4.7 Information provided on the council’s website relating specifically to council tax arrears 
was not easily accessible.  The group considered that the website’s home page should 
contain an icon which directed customers to information and advice relating to arrears. 

  
4.8 Currently customers contacting the council to discuss council tax arrears did so by 

using the council’s main switchboard number.  These conversations could be lengthy 
due to the complexities of the customers’ circumstances. The group considered that 
these customers were already facing extreme hardship and by paying for these 
telephone calls would have a further detrimental effect on their circumstances. It was 
considered that the feasibility of providing a ‘freephone’ number for council tax arrears 
enquiries should be investigated. 

 
5  RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
5.1 The co-operative review group recommend that – 

 
1  the Co-operative Scrutiny Board supports the proposal that Plymouth 

City Council should reduce the minimum contribution that working age 
people should pay towards their council tax bill from the current 25 
percent to 20 percent; 

   
2  the Co-operative Scrutiny Board supports the proposal that Plymouth 

City Council should reduce the fee charged when the Council makes an 
application for a Council Tax Attachment of Earnings order from £83 to 
£60; 

   

3  the Assistant Director for Finance, Efficiencies, Technology and  Assets 
should consider the benefits of introducing a ‘tapered’ repayment 
schedule for those in council tax arrears, where initial repayments are 
lower and gradually increase, and report back to the Board with his 
findings and recommendations within three months; 

   
4  the Assistant Director for Finance, Efficiencies, Technology and Assets 

should take steps to ensure that the largest possible number of 
employers in the city provide the facility for the deduction and payment 
at source of council tax from employees’ remuneration; 

   
5  the Assistant Director for Homes and Communities should engage with 

the city’s landlords to ensure that prospective tenants are aware of 
council tax liabilities as part of the lettings process; 

   
6  the Assistant Director for Homes and Communities should engage with 

the Assistant Director for Finance, Efficiencies, Technology and Assets to 
identify what financial incentives could be offered from the council tax 
exceptional hardship fund to those at risk from council tax arrears to 
begin saving with a Credit Union; 
 

   

Page 36



Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) Cooperative Reivew 10 

7 ` the Assistant Director for Finance, Efficiencies, Technology and Assets 
should review the language used in correspondence with those in council 
tax arrears and gain an independent verification of its accessibility; 

   
8  the Assistant Director for Finance, Efficiencies, Technology and Assets 

should engage with the Head of Communications to ensure access to 
advice and support for those struggling to pay council tax through the 
council’s digital channels; 

   
9  the Assistant Director for Finance, Efficiencies, Technology and Assets 

should consider the introduction of a freephone number for those 
needing advice about council tax arrears. 

 
6 Acknowledgement 
 
 The co-operative scrutiny review group wished to acknowledge the valuable work 

undertaken by staff employed within the council’s revenues and benefits department and 
also the good quality advice and support provided by Advice Plymouth. 
 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 
Subject:    Council Tax Base Setting 2014/15 

Committee:    Cabinet  

Date:    14 January 2014 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry 

CMT Member:   Malcolm Coe (Assistant Director for Finance) 

Author: Martine Collins, Strategic Manager Revenues and Benefits 

Contact:    Tel:  01752 304118 
    E-mail: martine.collins@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:    REV/MC 

Key Decision:   No   

Part:   1   
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
The report provides Members with a Council Tax-base for Tax Setting purposes in accordance with 
the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012. 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:   
 
The correct calculation of the Council Tax base will ensure the Council maximises its financial resources to 
meet its corporate priorities.           
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land: 
 
A collection rate of 97.5% has been used in calculating the Council Tax-base. This Council Tax Base 
setting report together with Appendix A which details the tax base calculations, shows the tax base is 
67,066 which will give us a Council Tax requirement of £86,847,153.38 assuming a 1.99% increase. 
This is in line with the resource modelling within the budget papers being presented to Council in 
February 2014. 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 
None – this report sets out the base for the Council Tax resource for 2014/15 and all implications 
from resource allocation are set out in the three year sustainable budget report.  

Agenda Item 7Page 39



 

 

 
 

Equality and Diversity: 

None. 

 
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
 
That Cabinet recommend to Council the approval of the Council Tax Base for 2014/15 Tax Setting 
as 67,066 Band D equivalents, which is the tax base after allowing for an estimated collection rate of 
97.5%. 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
Not applicable – calculation of the tax base is a statutory function. 
 

 
Published work / information: 
None 
 
 
Background papers: 
None 

 
Sign off:  
  
Fin djn13

14.29 
Leg 
 

TH01
43 

Mon 
Off 

TH01
43 

HR  Assets   IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member: Malcolm Coe 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes  

Page 40



 

 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 establishes 

arrangements for the setting of Council Taxes.  The arrangements include the valuation of the 
Council Tax Base for tax setting for which a Council resolution is necessary.  The result must 
be notified to the Police and Crime Commissioner and the combined Fire Authority by the 31 
January.   
 

1.2 Regulations require the Council to determine its Tax Base for Council Tax purposes for 
2014/15 during the period 1 December 2013 to 31 January 2014 prior to the financial year 
within which it will be effective.  The level of Council Tax subsequently set must use this base 
figure.  A Tax Base calculation is provided in Appendix A for an appropriate decision to be 
made. 
 

1.3 The calculation of the Tax Base includes the impact of the Council Tax Support Scheme which 
significantly reduces income from Council Tax which is then offset, in part, by a Council Tax 
Support Grant (which is included within the Revenue Support Grant).  
 

 
2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
2.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Cabinet with the calculation of the Council Tax 

Base of 67,066 for tax setting for the financial year 2014/15.  For purposes of comparison, the 
Council Tax Base for tax setting in the financial year 2013/14 was 66,958. 

 
3 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 During 2013/14 there were significant changes in the components of the Tax Base and its 

calculation.  These arose from changes to regulations in relation to exemptions and discounts 
and new legislation, specifically the introduction of a Council Tax Reduction scheme, known 
as Council Tax Support which replaced Council Tax Benefit.   

 
3.2 The impact of these changes resulted in the reduction of the Tax Base and therefore a 

reduction the level of Council Tax income to the Council.  This reduction is met in part by 
the Council Tax Support Grant. 

 
3.3 The setting of the Tax Base for 2014/15 has been calculated based on changes to the 

regulations and new legislation. 
 
 
4 TAX BASE CALCULATIONS 
 
4.1 The Council is required by 31st January to establish a base figure for the purpose of setting the 

level of Council Tax each year – the Tax Base.  The calculation of this figure is prescribed by 
the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) (England) Regulation 2012. 

 
4.2 The regulations require this calculation to be made between 1 December 2013 and 31 January 

2014.   For the year commencing 1 April 2014 the major precepting authorities will be Devon 
and Cornwall Police and Crime Commissioner, Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue 
Authority and Plymouth City Council.  

 

Page 41



 

 

4.3  Tax base figures are calculated by the billing authority as the aggregate of the "relevant 
amounts" calculated for each property valuation band (now including the impact from Council 
Tax Support scheme) multiplied by the estimated "collection rate" for the year.  

 
4.4 Relevant amounts are: 
 

(a) The number of chargeable dwellings in that band shown in the valuation list as it stands 
on the relevant day.   

 
(b) The number of discounts, disabled reductions and exemptions which apply to those 

dwellings on the relevant day; 
 
(c) Estimated changes in (a) and (b) above between the relevant day and the last day of 

the charging period to which the estimate applies; 
 
(d)  Impact of the Council Tax Support scheme which is linked to claimants, is converted 

to an equivalent number of dwellings per band by dividing the estimated cost per band 
of the reductions by the estimated Council Tax for that band; 

 
(e) The number of band D equivalents within each different band.  
 
(f) The relevant day is 30 November in the financial year preceding that for which the 

relevant amounts are calculated. 
 
4.5 The collection rate for the year is the Billing Authority's estimate of the total amounts of    

Council Tax which will ultimately be paid or transferred into the Collection Fund.  
 

4.6 A summary of the actual calculation of the 2014/15 Council Tax Base for Plymouth is shown 
in the Appendices to this report. Appendix A shows the tax base calculation, Appendix B 
shows the tax base used for the previous three years for comparison. 

 
4.7 This report assumes a collection rate for Council Tax of 97.5% after taking into account the 

 continued impact of Welfare Reform. 
 

 
6 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT GRANT 
 
6.1 From 2013/14, the Council receives a grant to fund a local Council Tax Support scheme. This 

grant reflects the funding reductions that the Government have set for Councils for the local 
scheme and is merged in to the Revenue Support Grant. An estimate of this has been included 
in the Council’s budget proposals for 2014/15.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 

30th November 2013 - "Relevant date"

BAND A BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H TOTAL
w ith disabled relief

Number of dwellings in valuation list (30/11/2013) 0 46,657 31,379 21,986 9,123 4,679 1,657 578 60 116,119

Number of exempt dwellings (incl demolished) 2,951 1,892 1,133 616 193 44 42 21 6,892

Reductions to lower band due to disabled relief  : 0 (112) (151) (121) (90) (61) (26) (33) (11) (605)

Additions to band due to disabled relief  : 112 151 121 90 61 26 33 11 0 605

(H) CHARGEABLE DWELLINGS FOR BAND 112              43,745          29,457         20,822         8,478             4,451           1,620                514              28                109,227      

Total "appropriate %" discounts (8&9) Single / disregard- 25% 25% 39                  22,028              9,891              5,492              1,901                868                 261                     68                  1                    40,549            
Total "appropriate %" discounts (10) Disregard - 50% 50% 5                    45                    47                  26                  27                     14                  31                       28                  17                  240                
Total "appropriate %" discounts (11) Second Homes 0% -                 293                  179                 111                 78                     77                  28                       15                  -                 781                

(13) Class D (Major works) 50% -                 64                    59                  47                  11                     7                    4                         1                    -                 193                
(12) Class C (Less than 1 month) 100% -                 872                  397                 215                 63                     70                  16                       6                    1                    

(Q) Total Discounts Formula 12                5,634             2,559           1,427           500                233              84                     32                9                   10,490        

Long Term Empty Premium (15) Premium 50% -                 133                  24                  16                  5                      -                 1                         2                    -                 181                

(E) Long Term Empty Premium Formula to give value 67 12 8 3 0 1 1 0 91                

Estimated number of dwellings not listed but which
will be listed in the band for the whole or any part 
of financial year 2014/2015 0 102 112 74 95 65 0 1 1 450

Estimated number of reductions to lower band 
due to successful appeals  : 0 0 (9) (2) (1) (4) (3) (1) 0 (20)

Estimated number of additions to lower band 
due to successful appeals  : 0 9 2 1 4 3 1 0 0 20

(J) Total Adjustments 0 111 105 73 98 64 (2) 0 1 450

(Z) Local Council Tax Scheme Reductions 68 11,503 3,937 1,278 315 85 21 3 0 17,210

TOTAL DWELLINGS ( (H-Q+E+J)-Z) 32                26,785          23,078         18,198         7,764             4,197           1,513                480              20                82,158        

(F) 5 6 7 8 9 11 13 15 18
(G) 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9

(A) RELEVANT AMOUNTS' for 2012/2013 ((H-Q+E+J)-Z) x (F divided by G) 18                17,857          17,950         16,176         7,764             5,129           2,186                800              40                67,919        

(B) COLLECTION RATE 97.5%

 (A) x (B) 17                  17,410              17,501            15,771            7,570                5,001              2,131                   780                 39                  66,221            

Plus Plus adjustment for MOD equivalent 845
Tax base 67,066        

CALCULATION OF COUNCIL TAXBASE - 2014/15 Appendix A

Plymouth  COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION 2014/2015

Ratio to Band D

[Section 4 (1) of The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012]

[Section 3 (1) of The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) 
Regulations 2012]

P
age 43



 

 

 
Tax Base and collection rates used for previous three years.       Appendix B                    

 
Year 2013/2014 2012/2013 2011/2012 
Band No. of 

properties  
Estimated 

collection rate 
Adjusted 
Band D 

equivalents 

No. of 
properties 

Estimated 
collection rate 

Adjusted 
Band D 

equivalents 

No. of 
properties 

Estimated 
collection 

rate 

Adjusted Band D 
equivalents 

A 
 

46,555 97.5% 17,611 46,363 98.5% 24,443 
. 
 

46,395 98.5% 24,500 

B 
 

31,134 97.5% 17,431 30,914 98.5% 19,901 30,600 98.5% 19,766 

C 
 

21,800 97.5% 15,637 21,734 98.5% 16,580 21,631 98.5% 16,553 

D 
 

8,922 97.5% 7,499 8,903 98.5% 7,683 8,823 98.5% 7,626 

E 
 

4,539 97.5% 4,891 4,493 98.5% 4,836 4,476 98.5% 4,838 

F 
 

1,673 97.5% 2,199 1,675 98.5% 2,192 1,665 98.5% 2,160 

G 
 

578 97.5% 798 567 98.5% 761 560 98.5% 759 

H 
 

59 97.5% 37 58 98.5% 32 58 98.5% 31 

Totals 
 

115,260  66,105 114,707  76,428 114,208  76,233 

Plus adjustment for 
MOD Contribution 

 853  
 

 843  
 
 833 

TAX BASE TOTALS  
 

66,958  
 
 77,271  

 
 77,066 

 

P
age 44



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject:    Contract award for the refurbishment of Laira Rail Bridge  

Committee:    Cabinet 

Date:    14 January 2014 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Coker 

CMT Member:   Anthony Payne (Strategic Director for Place) 

Author: Nathan Sanders, Project Manager 

Contact details   Tel:  01752 307780 
    email: nathan.sanders@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:    01345-11 

Key Decision: Yes  
 
Part: I   
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
To recommend that Cabinet awards the contract to refurbish Laira Rail Bridge, having regard to the 
information contained in the private reports referred to separately on the Cabinet agenda. 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:   
 
Pioneering Plymouth 
Laira Rail Bridge is an historic Plymouth landmark which has been lying derelict for over twenty years. 
Once refurbished to its former glory, it will provide an off-road link between the City and Plymstock, 
encouraging sustainable travel into and out of the City for commuting, business and recreational 
purposes. 
 
Growing Plymouth 
This project will contribute to this priority by creating an off-road link between the City and 
proposed new developments in Plymstock Quarry and beyond. 
 
Confident Plymouth 
Refurbishing this derelict Victorian asset into once again being a functional structure will engender 
civic pride in Plymouth’s infrastructure and history. 
          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 
This project is in the approved Capital Programme 2012 – 15. The capital funding comprises a 
Plymouth Connect Local Sustainable Transport Fund capital grant, Local Transport Plan capital grant, 
capital contribution and Section 106 contributions. The main £750,000 Section 106 Contribution 
which is connected to the Saltram Meadow (Plymstock Quarry) development has not yet been 
received as it is due on first occupation of the new houses. This is expected during 2014/15. The risk 
of the funding not being received by the Council is considered to be low due to the significant 
investment already made by the developer. 
 
Revenue costs estimated at £10,140 per annum equating to £152,100 over 15 years for ongoing 
maintenance can be met from within the Highway Maintenance revenue budget. 

Agenda Item 8Page 45



   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 
None 

 

Equality and Diversity 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No  

  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
 
To award the contract for the refurbishment of Laira Rail Bridge to South West Highways, following 
the outcome of the tender evaluation exercise held on 10 December 2013. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
To not award the contract. 
This would mean that the project could not proceed and a significant amount of central government 
funding would have to be returned, including money that has already been spent in developing the 
project. 
 
Published work / information: 
 
Background papers: 
 
None    
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin SG/Place 

FTC 
1314003.  
171213 

Leg SC/ 
19138 

Mon 
Off 

DS/ 
19152 

HR n/a Assets CJT/ 
123/ 
171213 

IT n/a Strat 
Proc 

NA/ 
SPU/ 
343/ 
CP/ 
1213 

Originating SMT Member: Clive Perkin 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes  

Page 46



1.0 Introduction 
 
Plymouth is planning for large scale residential and employment growth along the Eastern Corridor, 
the two most significant sites are that of Saltram Meadow (formerly known as Plymstock Quarry) and 
Sherford New Community. Further employment is proposed at Langage Energy Park. 

Development sites along the Eastern Corridor and in the city centre make up 52% of the proposed 
residential dwellings, 56% of employment space and 72% of retail space of the overall development 
for the whole city by 2026. 

This planned growth will inevitably increase the demand for travel by public transport, walking and 
cycling and by private car. New and innovative transport solutions are therefore needed to facilitate 
this growth. 

Part of the strategy for facilitating this growth is to provide high quality walking and cycling facilities 
linking the city centre and the eastern corridor with both on and off-road facilities which are of high 
quality, fast and convenient. 

 

2.0 Physical Context 

 

The bridge over the River Plym was completed in 1887 with the remainder of the line to Pomphlett 
not being completed until the following year.  

The original function of Laira Rail Bridge was to carry a mineral railway but it was later converted to 
a branch line of the London and South Western Railway and was opened to passenger trains in 1892 
forming an important river crossing between Plymouth and Plymstock. Passenger services ended in 
the 1950s although freight trains, principally serving the Billacombe Quarry and sidings at Pomphlett, 
continued to operate until the late 1980s. 

Since its closure the bridge has fallen into a state of disrepair and over the years has largely lost its 
protective paintwork. 

Despite its cosmetic appearance, the bridge remains in relatively good structural condition, although 
there are some isolated areas of significant corrosion present, particularly within the tidal areas of the 
bridge. 

On the western side of the rail bridge, an existing off-road cycleway runs along the alignment of the 
former Turnchapel branch line. Parallel to this, a second branch line still in use as an active railway 
provides access for trains to the industrial area of Cattedown. 

To the south of rail bridge, a second river crossing carries vehicular traffic over the River Plym along 
the A379. This is the second bridge located in this area to carry vehicular traffic over the River Plym, 
the first of which dating back to 1827 was demolished in the 1950’s to make way for the current 
road bridge. 

The remnants of the old Laira Road Bridge lay to the south of the rail bridge at the eastern end in the 
form of the original abutments and limestone facing, which have been left in situ along with a plaque 
commemorating the opening of the original road bridge. The remainder of the land in this area has 
been soft landscaped with grass.  

At the eastern end of the bridge, the old railway embankment has been dissected by The Ride, which 
provides access for vehicular traffic to Chelson Meadow Recycling Centre and a gypsy/traveller site, a 
bus depot and a small number of light industrial units. The Ride also provides pedestrian and cycle 
access to the Saltram Country Park estate and links to the National Cycle Network (NCN) including 
the Plym Valley cycle trail. 

 

 

Page 47



3.0 Project Objectives 

 

• Provide a high quality dedicated pedestrian and cycling facility utilising the redundant rail bridge. 

• Improve walking and cycling connectivity in the area. 

• Provide a high quality decorative lighting scheme to highlight key features of the bridge and 
capture people’s imagination to encourage greater use. 

• Enable a future bridge over The Ride to come forward at a later date. 

• Preserve the heritage value of the existing bridge. 

 

4.0 Project Details 

The scheme will restore the redundant Laira Rail Bridge shown in  

Figure  below, which crosses the River Plym and has been disused for over twenty years since its 
closure in the late 1980s. This proposal will bring the bridge back into operation as a shared use 
pedestrian and cycle path, linking to the National Cycle Network (NCN) Route 27 which passes 
through the Saltram Country Park, along with other local routes.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 1 Laira Rail Bridge 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



The project requires the old rail bridge to be structurally and cosmetically restored and will require a 
new deck system for pedestrians and cyclists as indicated in Figure 2. The scheme will also provide 
appropriate street and feature lighting.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2 Artistic Impression of Refurbished Laira Rail Bridge 

A new access ramp will be constructed on the eastern side to link the old rail bridge with the road 
level at The Ride as illustrated in Figure 3. The design of this ramp enables a new bridge to be 
constructed over The Ride at a later date, in order to continue the pedestrian/cycle path along the 
former railway line. 

 

Figure 3 Artistic Impression of Proposed Ramp (View from The Ride) 

The approach structure on the western side of the bridge will also be restored in order to link to the 
existing off-road pedestrian/cycle route which runs along the alignment of the former Turnchapel 
Branch railway line, to Lucas Terrace / Junction Gardens. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10Page 51
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 53

B
y virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of P

art 1 of S
chedule 12A

of the Local G
overnm

ent A
ct 1972.

D
ocum

ent is R
estricted



P
age 62

T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 63

B
y virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of P

art 1 of S
chedule 12A

of the Local G
overnm

ent A
ct 1972.

D
ocum

ent is R
estricted



P
age 72

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 MINUTES
	6 REVISED COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME
	Scrutiny Report Council Tax Attachment of Earnings

	7 COUNCIL TAX BASE SETTING 2014/15
	8 CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE REFURBISHMENT OF LAIRA RAIL BRIDGE
	10 CONTRACT AWARD FOR THE REFURBISHMENT OF LAIRA RAIL BRIDGE (E3)
	Contract award for the refurbishment of Laira Rail Bridge contract award report (private)
	Contract award for the refurbishment of Laira Rail Bridge Capital Programme Approval Form (private)


